CASE NO. 51021

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA 2008 MAY 29 PM 4: 33

MARCUS CAMPBELL,

Appellant,

vs.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent. /

Appeal from:

Eighth Judicial District Court

Judge Valerie Adair

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

LONGABAUGH LAW OFFICES

MARVIN L. LONGABAUGH, ESQ. Nevada Bar No. 7795 2245C Renaissance Drive Las Vegas, NV 89119 (702) 967-6800 Attorneys for Appellant Marcus Campbell



12- 12012

THACIE K. LINDEMAN DEPUTY CLERK

FILED

JUN 0 2 2008

ORIGINAL

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Marcus Campbell ("MARCUS") comes before this Court to appeal his convictions for murder in the first degree with the use of a deadly weapon with intent to promote, further or assist a criminal gang; attempted murder with the use of a deadly weapon with the intent to promote, further or assist a criminal gang; and discharging a firearm at or into a vehicle with the intent to promote, further or assist a criminal gang. This Court should reverse Campbell's convictions because the State made references to the testimony expected from the victim's mother, which was followed by the district court's preclusion of such testimony. These remarks in the State's opening suggested that Campbell repeatedly threatened and harassed the victim prior to his murder. As a result of the State's misconduct, and the district court's subsequent ruling, Campbell was denied his right to confrontation.

In addition to the State's misconduct during opening argument, the district court abused its discretion when it allowed the jury to review a transcript of a MySpace video, prepared by the State's gang expert, during a screening of the MySpace video. The district court, over an objection by Campbell's counsel, allowed the jury to review this pre-prepared transcript by State's witness, and failed to give the jury a limiting instruction that the transcript itself was not evidence. Therefore, for the above reasons, Campbell files this appeal requesting a reversal of his convictions.

FACTS

Marcus Campbell was arrested and charged with the following crimes: murder in the 24 first degree with the use of a deadly weapon with intent to promote, further or assist a criminal 26 gang; attempted murder with the use of a deadly weapon with the intent to promote, further or assist a criminal gang; and discharging a firearm at or into a vehicle with the intent to promote,

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

20 21 22

> 23 24

19

25

28

further or assist a criminal gang. At his arraignment hearing on May 3, 2007, Campbell pled not guilty to all charges.

A trial by jury was held beginning November 7, 2007 and continued for five days, until November 14, 2007. At trial, witnesses testified to the facts surrounding the events that transpired on January 28, 2007. Witnesses for the State testified that on January 28, 2007, Marcus Campbell traveled to Hassell Street in Las Vegas and shot into a vehicle driven by Devlon Mason. There were two other individuals in this vehicle, one of whom was the victim Patrick Russum. Mr. Russum died from his injuries. Billy Ray Jones, Sr., who also provided testimony, was injured as a result of this shooting.

The State also produced one eyewitness, Devlon Mason, and one witness who identified Campbell as having been in the area of the shooting on that particular day, Billy Ray Jones, Sr. The State also produced several witnesses who testified to the fact that Campbell was a member of a gang named Squad Up, and that the victim Mr. Russum belonged to a rival gang by the name of The Wood. These witnesses also provided testimony relating to the history of bad relations between these two gangs, specifically regarding a "triggering" event resulting in the shooting of January 28, 2007. The State called Mr. Russum's mother, Angela Conway, to the stand to provide testimony that she knew Campbell had called her son and threatened him in the months before the January 28, 2007 shooting. The State called a series of witnesses who testified to forensic evidence.

Finally, the State called a gang expert, James Fink, to provide testimony regarding the gang culture in Las Vegas. Specifically, Mr. Fink provided testimony regarding a rap song written by Campbell, as well as testimony regarding a MySpace video starring Campbell and 26 27 another individual, in which Campbell makes statements about his gang affiliation, and the fact

///

that he knew how to find Mr. Russum. Mr. Fink testified to his interpretations of the comments made by Campbell in both the rap song and the MySpace video. Mr. Fink also prepared a transcript of the MySpace video for use by the jury when viewing the video during trial.

The jury found Campbell guilty of all charges. At the conclusion of the penalty phase, the district court judge sentenced Campbell as follows: with respect to Count One - murder in the first degree, life with the possibility of parole when a minimum of twenty (20) years has passed, plus an equal and consecutive term for the deadly weapon enhancement; with respect to Count Two - attempted murder, a minimum term of seventy-two (72) months and a maximum of two-hundred-forty (240) months, plus an equal and consecutive term for the criminal gang enhancement, to run concurrently with the sentence for Count One; with respect to Count Three - discharging a firearm at or into a vehicle, a minimum term of twelve (12) months and a maximum term of sixty (60) months, plus an equal and consecutive term for the criminal gang enhancement, to run consecutively with the sentence for Counts One and Two. See, Sentencing Transcript dated January 8, 2008, pages 13-14.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Campbell asserts that: 1) his conviction should be overturned because the State's misconduct during opening arguments prevented him from exercising his right of confrontation; and 2) the district court abused its discretion when it permitted the jury to review a transcript of a MySpace video, prepared by the State's expert witness, and subsequently failed to issue a limiting instruction to the jury that the transcript itself was not evidence.

ARGUMENT

CAMPBELL'S CONVICTION SHOULD BE OVERTURNED BECAUSE THE STATE'S MISCONDUCT DURING OPENING ARGUMENTS RESULTED IN THE VIOLATION OF CAMPBELL'S RIGHT TO CONFRONTATION

Where an appeal involves "questions of prosecutorial misconduct involving mixed questions of fact and law are reviewed de novo." United States v. Eric B., 86 F.3d 869, 877 (1996), (citing United States v. DeRosa, 783 F.2d 1401, 1404 (9th Cir. 1986)).

"In determining whether prosecutorial misconduct has deprived a defendant of a fair trial, we inquire as to 'whether the prosecutor's statements so infected the proceedings with unfairness as to make the results a denial of due process." Rudin v. State, 120 Nev. 121, 136-137; 86 P.3d 572 (2004). A criminal conviction will be overturned if, viewing the improper behavior of the prosecutor as a whole, in the context of the record, the prosecutorial misconduct denied the defendant a fair trial. Id., (citing United States v. Young, 470 U.S. 1, 11 (1985)). Prosecutorial misconduct can not be considered harmless unless the court is convinced that it "was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt." Id, at 137, (quoting Witherow v. State, 104 Nev. 721, 724; 765 P.2d 1153, 1155 (1988)). Therefore, in cases where an appellant alleges prosecutorial misconduct, the Nevada Supreme Court applies a harmless error standard of review. Williams v. State, 103 Nev. 106, 734 P.2d 700 (1987).

In Frazier v. Cupp, Warden, the United States Supreme Court held that there was no deprivation of the right to confrontation as a result of a prosecutor's opening statement where the trial court instructed the jury that the statements by the prosecutor were not evidence and where the prosecutor acted in good faith in his expectation that a witness would testify in a certain way. 394 U.S. 731, 736 (1969).

5

10 2245C Renaissance Drive, Las Vegas, Nevada 89119 Phone: (702) 967-6800 Fax (702) 967-6789 11 Longabaugh Law Offices 12 13 14 15 16 17 18

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

I.



24

25

23

19

Longabaugh Law Offices 2245C Renaissance Drive, Las Vegas, Nevada 89119 Phone: (702) 967-6800 Fax (702) 967-6789 1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20 21 22

> 23 24

> > 25

26 27

28

In Frazier, the appellant argued that arguments made during the State's opening argument were prejudicial. Id., at 733. Specifically, the State included in its opening a summary of testimony expected from a witness who had previously pled guilty to the same offense as the appellant. Id., at 733-734. The witness was expected to testify to the appellant's confession, as well as other details relating to the alleged crime. The State included a summary of these details in its opening argument. Id. Subsequently, when the witness took the stand for direct examination, the witness invoked the privilege of the Fifth Amendment and refused to testify. Id. Appellant argued on appeal that the State's summary of anticipated testimony and the witness' subsequent failure to testify and avoid cross examination prevented appellant from his right to confrontation of that witness. Id. The Court ruled that the appellant was not denied his right to confrontation because the State had a good faith expectation that the witness would testify in a certain way; and because the district court had instructed the jury that opening statements were not considered evidence. Id., at page 735. Specifically, the Court stated that "certainly not every variance between the advance description and the actual presentation constitutes reversible error, when a proper limiting instruction has been given." Id., at page 736.

This standard of review was further elucidated by the Court in <u>Furman v. Wood</u>, where the Court held that "prosecutorial misconduct does not automatically invalidate a conviction. It is a ground for relief if it 'so infected the trial with unfairness as to make the resultant conviction a denial of due process." 190 F.3d 1002, 1006 (1999) (citing <u>Darden v.</u> <u>Wainwright</u>, 477 U.S. 168, 181 (1986)).

In <u>Miller v. State of Nevada</u>, the Court held that "failure to object during trial generally precludes appellate consideration of an issue." 110 P.3d 53, 57 (2005) (citing <u>Gallego v. State</u>

2245C Renaissance Drive, Las Vegas, Nevada 89119 (702) 967-6800 Fax $(\tilde{7}02)$ 967-6789 Longabaugh Law Offices Phone: (

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20 21 22

> 23 24

25

27

28

118 Nev. 348, 365, 23 P.3d 227 (2001)). Where there is a failure to object, the court may still utilize the plain error standard of review "affecting [the defendant's] substantial rights." Id., at pg. 58 (citing N.R.S. 178.602, which states "plain errors or defects affecting substantial rights may be noticed although they were not brought to the attention of the court"). In applying the "plain error" standard of review, the Court must determine whether the plain error affected the substantial rights of the defendant. Id. Specifically, "A plain error affects substantial rights if it 'had a prejudicial impact on the verdict when viewed in context of the trial as a whole."" Id., (citing Rowland v. State, 118 Nev. 31, 38, 39 P. 3d 114, 118 (2002)).

During opening statements, the State referenced a video which had been posted onto MySpace in October, 2006 and its content. Campbell can be seen in this video with another individual, and one phrase spoken in this video references "PT" (aka Patrick Russum), the fact that he's in Arizona, and that he will be called long distance. See Trial Transcript (hereinafter "TT") at Day 2, page 81, lines 11-13. Prejudicial prosecutorial misconduct occurred in this case when the State referenced testimony expected from the victim's mother, Angela Conway, in its opening statement. Specifically, the State stated "in fact, you'll hear from Angela Conway that in 2006, they had sent Patrick Russum to Arizona because they were afraid for him because he had been receiving threats." Id., at lines 14-16. At the time these statements were made by the State, Campbell's counsel did not object. Cumulatively, these statements by the State resulted in great prejudice against Campbell.

When Angela Conway took the stand on Day Three of trial, Campbell's counsel objected to the content of Ms. Conway's testimony, specifically arguing that the statements going to be provided by Ms. Conway constituted hearsay. See, TT at Day 3, page 6-7. As a 26 result of counsel's objection, the district court judge brought in Ms. Conway outside the

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

13

15

16

17

18

19



24

23

25

presence of the jury, but on the record, and allowed the prosecutor to question her regarding the content of her testimony. Ms. Conway provided testimony regarding the fact that she was the victim Patrick Russum's mother, and that she and her son were driving together when her son received a telephone call. Id., at page 9, lines 16-18. She further testified that her son made several statements to the caller to the effect of "stop calling me." Id., at lines 19-23. After asking her son who it was on the phone, Patrick stated that "Muck keep calling me and threatening me, he was calling me and threatening me again." Id., at lines 23-25, page 10 at line 1. Patrick then showed Ms. Conway his phone, and she testified that she saw Muck's name on the phone's screen. Id., at page 10, lines 3-4. Through testimony by other witnesses at trial, it came to be known that Campbell also went by the name of "Muck."

As a result of this testimony outside the presence of the jury, the district court judge ruled that Ms. Conway could testify to what she heard Patrick say on the telephone that day, and she could testify to what she saw on the telephone screen. See, TT at Day 3, page 12, lines 1-14. When Ms. Conway did take the stand in the presence of the jury, her testimony was much more limited. Ms. Conway stated on the record that a couple of months before Patrick's death, she observed him receive a phone call. Id., at page 16, lines 21-25. Ms. Conway testified that her son stated during the telephone conversation "man, stop calling me and threatening me." Id., at page 17, lines 18-24. Ms. Conway also stated that she saw the screen of the cell phone upon the conclusion of the telephone call, and the name on the screen was "Muck." Id., at page 18, lines 2-6.

At no point during either examination of Ms. Conway did she testify that her son was in Arizona for any period of time, nor did she testify that her son was in Arizona as a direct result 26 27 of threats having been directed at him. As a result, Campbell did not have the opportunity to 28

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

27

28

cross examine Ms. Conway on the issue of whether Mr. Russum was in Arizona for a period of time, and the reason for his stay in Arizona. The district court's limitation of Ms. Conway's testimony deprived Campbell of the right to confront Ms. Conway on the issues of the prior threats and Mr. Russum's need to flee the state. Campbell could not confront the issues brought to light in the State's opening argument.

The instant case differs from Frazier in that the State did call Ms. Conway to the stand, however, the State never directly questioned Ms. Conway about her son's receipt of threats, nor did the State directly question Ms. Conway about her son's stay in Arizona. While it is true that Campbell's counsel successfully limited Ms. Conway's testimony regarding the prior threats, there were no limiting instructions by the district court with respect to Mr. Russum's stay in Arizona, or why he had to leave the state of Nevada. The State had no reasonable good faith expectation that Ms. Conway would testify to the fact that her son had fled to the state of Arizona, because the State did not even ask the questions of Ms. Conway upon direct examination that would have elicited such testimony.

Campbell's counsel did not object at the conclusion of Ms. Conway's testimony, nor did Campbell's counsel request a limiting instruction be issued to the jury with respect to the comments made by the State during opening argument. Therefore, the plain error analysis should be applied by the Court.

The statements made by the State in opening argument alluded that Campbell had been threatening Mr. Russum in the months before he was killed. Such were the threats that Mr. Russum was sent by his family to Arizona. Evidence and testimony presented during trial further supported the theory that Campbell was the token member of Squad Up to eliminate a 26 member of the Wood, and the MySpace video presented Campbell making threatening

statements about Mr. Russum, a member of the Wood. Taken in context of the entire trial, the statements by the State in opening argument prejudiced the verdict rendered against the defendant. The evidence against Campbell was circumstantial at best, and of the many people present at the scene at the time the crime was committed, only one individual provided eyewitness testimony. The jury was undoubtedly influenced by the statements made by the State in opening argument regarding the threats made against the victim, and the victim's need to flee the state of Nevada.

Campbell's right to confrontation was precluded when the State spoke of Ms. Conway's anticipated testimony during opening argument, but upon direct examination no such testimony was elicited. Campbell was not able to cross examine Ms. Conway with respect to the statements made by the State during opening argument, and as a result, Campbell's rights were substantially affected, and he suffered great prejudice in the final verdict. Therefore, Campbell's convictions should be reversed.

II. THE DISTRICT COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN ALLOWING THE JURY TO REVIEW A TRANSCRIPT PREPARED BY THE STATE'S EXPERT WITHOUT ISSUING A LIMITING INSTRUCTION TO THE JURY THAT THE TRANSCRIPT ITSELF WAS NOT EVIDENCE

A district court's ruling on an evidentiary matter is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. United States v. Weller, 238 F.3d 1215, 1220 (10th Cir. 2001). "In order to reverse a district court judgment of an evidentiary ruling, [an appellant] must make a clear showing [he] suffered prejudice, and the ruling was inconsistent with substantial justice or affected his substantial rights." Coletti v. Cudd Pressure Control, 165 F.3d 767, 773 (10th Cir. 1999).

When determining whether a transcript can be utilized as a listening aid the standard of review is for an abuse of discretion. United States v. Oscar Acosta Delgado, 357 F. 3d 1061, 1070 (2004), (citing United States v. Armijo, 5 F.3d 1229, 1234 (9th Cir. 1993)) [hereinafter

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19



25

23

- 26 27
- 28

<u>Delgado</u>]. This review includes, in relevant part, an analysis of the following: "the steps taken to ensure the accuracy of the transcripts...whether the jury was instructed that the tape, rather than the transcript, was evidence..." Id.

In <u>Delgado</u>, the jury was presented with transcripts of telephone calls and a video tape recording of the defendant engaging with another individual in drug transactions. <u>Id.</u>, at page 1070. This Court did not admit the transcripts into evidence, nor did the Court allow the jury to review these transcripts during deliberations. <u>Id</u>. However, the Court "specifically instructed the jury that the transcripts were provided only to help the jurors understand the recordings and that the recordings themselves constituted the evidence." <u>Id</u>. The Court of Appeals affirmed the lower court's ruling that allowed the transcripts to be utilized as a listening aid, even where there were issues regarding the accuracy of the prepared transcripts, and where the jury had ample time to review the transcripts and compare the transcripts to the actual recordings. <u>Id</u>., at page 1071.

In Loren v. State of Florida, the Court held that it is not cause for reversal where the court allows a jury to read an authenticated transcript of a recorded conversation where the court also issues a limiting instruction to the jury that the transcript is only to be used as a listening aid, and is not to be considered evidence. 518 So. 2d 342, 347-348 (1987).

In Loren, the State provided transcripts of recorded conversations between the defendant and another individual to the jury for review. The transcripts were authenticated by lengthy testimony, and the court issued a limiting instruction to the jury, ruling that the transcript "could be used by the jury, as the court instructed the jury 'only as an aid to your understanding and viewing' during the playing of the tapes, but the transcript would not be allowed to be taken by them into the jury room." Id., at page 347-348.

In <u>State v. Griffin</u>, the Court held that "a transcript of a tape may be given to a jury where the jury is instructed that the tape, and not the transcript is the actual evidence." 2003 Tenn. Crim. App. LEXIS 46 (citing State v. Barnard, 899 S.W.2d 617, 623-624 (Tenn. Crim App. 1994)).

In the instant case, a MySpace video starring Campbell and another individual was entered into evidence and shown to the jury. The jury saw the video on Day 3 of the trial during the testimony of Jason Darr. See, TT at Day 3, page 142, line 16. Mr. Darr did not testify as to the meaning of this video, nor did he testify to any specific statements made by the participants of this video. It was simply shown to the jury.

On Day 4 of trial, James Fink was presented as an expert witness for the State. Mr. Fink testified as to his credentials and experience, and was certified as a gang expert. He provided lengthy testimony regarding the existence of gangs in Las Vegas, as well as an explanation of the cultures of the gangs Campbell and the victim belonged to. See, TT at Day 4, generally. During the course of his analysis of these particular gangs, and his work with the Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department in the Gang Unit, Mr. Fink had occasion to review a MySpace video featuring Campbell and one other individual. See, TT at Day 4, page 89, lines 14-16. Mr. Fink further testified that he prepared a transcript of the contents of this MySpace Video after reviewing the video several times. Id., at lines 17-21. The State then offered a transcript for the jury to review while the MySpace video was being played. Id., at lines 22-24.

Campbell's counsel objected to the use of this transcript. While the objection is not 24 clear on the record, counsel did ask for a bench conference regarding this issue. See, TT at Day 25 26 4, page 89, line 25. The district court did not rule on this objection on the record. However, upon information provided by Campbell's trial counsel, the transcript of the MySpace video

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

23



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9



24 25 26

23

27

28

was presented to the jury to assist in the viewing of the MySpace video. The district court judge did not issue a limiting instruction to the jury on the record with respect to this transcript. This transcript was not offered into evidence, and therefore, was not admitted as an exhibit.

The State played the MySpace video for the jury, and paused intermittently so that Mr. Fink could offer his expert opinion as to what the participants in the video were talking about in layman's terms. See, TT at Day 4, pages 90-98. While Mr. Fink does not read into the record the transcript itself, at times he does quote verbatim what he believes the participants in the video are saying. See, TT at Day 4, page 91, lines 12, 23-25; page 92, lines 2-8; page 93, lines 4-5, 23-24; page 94, lines 5-6; page 95, lines 4-5, 19-25; page 97, lines 1-7. In fact, the State stopped and re-started the playing of the video ten times during this portion of Mr. Fink's direct examination.

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