7	
3	FILED
4	요즘 것은 것 같아요. 그는 것은 것은 것이 가지 않는 것 같아. 가지 않는 것이 같아. 같아. 말 것 같아. 말
5	MARCUS CAMPBELL,
6	Appellant,
7	v. } Case No. 51021
8	THE STATE OF NEVADA,
9	Respondent.
10	
11	<b>RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF</b>
12	Appeal From Judgment of Conviction Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County
13	Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County
14	MARVIN L. LONGABAUGH, ESQ. DAVID ROGER
15	MARVIN L. LONGABAUGH, ESQ. Longabaugh Law Offices Nevada Bar No. 007795 DAVID ROGER Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar #002781
16	2245C Renaissance DriveRegional Justice CenterLas Vegas, Nevada 89119200 Lewis Avenue
17	(702) 967-6800 Post Office Box 552212 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 (702) 671-2500

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

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### Ι

#### THE STATE DID NOT COMMIT MISCONDUCT, OR VIOLATE THE DEFENDANT'S RIGHT TO CONFRONTATION, DURING OPENING STATEMENTS BY REFERRING TO ANGELA CONWAY'S EXPECTED TESTIMONY

6 If a prosecutor overstates in his opening statement what he is able to prove at 7 trial, misconduct does not lie unless the prosecutor makes the statement in bad faith. 8 <u>Rice v. State</u>, 113 Nev. 1300, 989 P.2d 262, 270 (1997). "Many things might happen 9 during the course of the trial which would prevent the presentation of all the evidence 10 described in advance. Certainly not every variance between the advance description 11 and the actual presentation constitutes reversible error, when a proper limiting 12 instruction has been given." Frazier v. Cupp, Warden, 394 U.S. 731, 736, 89 S.Ct. 1420, 1423 (1969). However, if the court determines that there has been prosecutorial 13 14 misconduct in the presentation of evidence, and that the statement violated the defendant's right of confrontation, the violation "is subject to the harmless error 15 16 analysis." Delaware v. Van Arsdall, 475 U.S. 673, 106 S.Ct. 1431 (1986).

17

1

2

3

4

5

## There Was No Prosecutorial Misconduct.

18 A prosecutor has a duty to refrain from stating facts in an opening statement 19 that cannot be proven at trial. Lord v. State, 107 Nev. 28, 806 P.2d 548 (1991); Riley v. State, 107 Nev. 205, 808 P.2d 551 (1991); Garner v. State, 78 Nev. 366, 374 P.2d 20 21 525 (1962) However, if the statement is made with a good faith belief that the 22 evidence to support it will be admitted at trial, there is no misconduct. <u>Rice</u>, 113 Nev. 23 1300. The standard of review for prosecutorial misconduct rests upon the defendant showing "that the remarks made by the prosecutor were 'patently prejudicial."" Riker 24 v. State, 111 Nev. 1316, 1328, 905 P.2d 706, 713 (1995), citing Libby v. State, 109 25 26 Nev. 905, 911, 859 P.2d 1050, 1054 (1993). Prosecutorial statements are reviewed in context for effect. Thomas v. State, 120 Nev. 37, 83 P.3d 818, 825 (2004). 27

In this case, during opening arguments that State made the short remark, "You'll hear from Angela Conway that in 2006, they had sent Patrick Russum to Arizona because they were afraid for him because he had been receiving threats." TT at Day 2, page 81, lines 14-16. This comment was made in reference to the MySpace video which was presented to the jury and which referred the victim, "I hear you're in Arizona, I'll call you long distance." TT at Day 2, page 81, lines 12-13. In fact, during testimony, the victim's mother, Angela Conway, stated that her son had been in Arizona until Thanksgiving. <u>See</u> TT at Day 3, page 21, lines 4-8.

9 The statement made during opening arguments was made in good faith and was 10 not patently prejudicial. The defense had not raised an objection to Angela Conway's 11 proposed testimony before the day of her testimony and the court had not made its 12 ruling that the witness must limit her testimony to what she heard on a specific day. 13 See TT at Day 3, page 13, lines 13-14. The ruling, during trial, that the witness could 14 not refer to any previous threats in her testimony made it so that the reason for the victim's stay in Arizona could not be introduced. Id. Because the prosecutor, at the 15 16 time of opening statements, believed that the reason for the victim's stay in Arizona 17 would be introduced during trial, the short remark during opening statements was not 18 inappropriate. Because the statement was made in good faith, it was not prosecutorial 19 misconduct.

20

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

21

# a) Even if the Court Finds Prosecutorial Misconduct, the Error was Harmless.

Where the Court concludes Petitioner's right of confrontation was violated by the prosecutor's opening statement, the violation is subject to the harmless error analysis. <u>Delaware v. Van Arsdall</u>, 475 U.S. 673, 106 S.Ct. 1431 (1986). In determining whether any prosecutorial misconduct was prejudicial, the court considers "the duration of the prosecutor's reference to the never-admitted testimony, the emphasis placed upon that testimony by the prosecutor, the strength of the other evidence presented... the importance of the never-admitted testimony to the

1 prosecutor's case, and the effectiveness of limiting instructions to protect the 2 defendant's constitutional rights." Hicks v. Straub, 239 F. Supp. 2d 697, 709 (2003) 3 citing Frazier, 394 U.S. at 734. In addition, the Court noted, where "a proper limiting" 4 instruction has been given not every variance between the advance description and the 5 actual presentation constitutes reversible error." Id. at 736. In Frazier, the Court found 6 no prejudicial error where the Judge had cautioned "the jurors that they 'must not 7 regard any statement made by counsel in your presence during the proceedings concerning the facts of this case as evidence," and the comment was made in passing 8 9 during an opening statement. Id. at 734.

10 Here, the statement made was a mere three lines nestled in an opening 11 statement that began the five day trial. See TT at Day 2, page 81, lines 14-16. The 12 state's case did not rest upon the information or in fact have any reliance at all on the 13 non-admitted portion, nor was it particularly harmful to the defendant's case in that 14 the information that was pertinent, that the victim had been in Arizona, came out 15 during the examination of victim's mother. See TT at Day 3, page 21, lines 7-8. There 16 was virtually no time spent discussing the non-admitted evidence and the State's case 17 did not rely on it. In addition, the Court, both at the beginning and the end of the 18 presentation of evidence provided the jury with limiting instructions. The first was 19 presented on the first day of evidence,

20

21

22

23

24

"Certain things are not evidence and you must not consider them as evidence in deciding the facts of this case. They include statements and arguments by the attorneys, questions and objections of the attorneys, testimony I instruct you to disregard and anything you may see or hear if the court is not in session even if what you see or hear is done or said by one of the parties or by one of the witnesses."

TT at Day 2, page 69, lines 14-19. The second was provided at the end of trial as jury instruction number 31, "Statements, arguments and opinions of counsel are not evidence in the case." TT at Day 5, page 18, lines 2-4. The combination of these two statements provided more guidance and reminder to the jury than did the limiting

3

4

5

6

instruction found to be sufficient in <u>Frazier</u>, while the statement made to the jury was innocuous.

Because the Prosecutor's statement was made in good faith, was not prejudicial and was limited by the judge's instructions, there was not reversible error.

#### Π

## THE JURY DID NOT USE A TRANSCRIPT AS A LISTENING AID

7 The defendant asserts that the transcript was provided to the jury, however he is 8 incorrect. He is correct that the judge did not rule on the objection in the record. 9 However the defendant has not carried the burden to show that the transcripts were 10 distributed to the jury, and it is apparent from the trial transcript that they were not. 11 The prosecutor informed the judge that she had had copies of the transcript prepared 12 by the expert witness, and asked "that the jurors be allowed to follow along as he 13 [went] through [his] testimony" and that they would be collected at the end. TT at 14 Day 4, pg 89. After that the defense attorney did not object, but did request a bench 15 conference which was granted. Id. After the bench conference the State continued 16 questioning, without any notation that the transcripts had been distributed. Id. at 90. 17 Throughout the trial transcript where there was action performed which provided 18 information to the jury, as the distribution of transcripts would have done, there is a 19 notation of the conduct, such as when the video was played. See TT at Day 4, pgs 20 90-98 generally. In addition, for the State to make such a request, have a bench 21 conference, and then proceed to pass out the transcripts in silence without explaining 22 to the jury what was being provided or what it was to be used for would be unusual 23 at best. In addition, the judge did not make any kind of limiting instruction at the 24 time that the transcripts were allegedly distributed, which would have been done 25 without any request from the attorneys. More importantly, the format of questioning 26 which immediately followed the request to introduce the transcript to the jury makes 27 it clear that the transcripts were not actually passed out. When the State resumed 28 questioning, the witness was asked specifically to indicate what the individuals were

saying, "[n]ot verbatim what the individuals on the video [were] saying, but what 1 2 they [were] referring to or what some of the terminology means without quoting 3 them verbatim in the video." Id. at 90. The fact that the witness was instructed not to verbatim quote the video makes it clear that the judge did not allow the transcripts to 4 5 be passed out because if the judge had allowed the jury to see the transcripts, then the 6 witness would have been able to refer to the transcripts and make verbatim quotes from the video since the jury would have the verbatim transcript. It is unreasonable 7 to expect that if the jury had the transcript to refer to during the discussion of the 8 9 video that the witness would not be allowed to state specifically what the individuals 10 in the video were saying. Finally, at the conclusion of the detective's testimony and the evening recess the jury was not given an instruction to leave the transcript on 11 their chairs with their notepads. Id. at 121. In addition, there is no indication 12 13 anywhere in the trial transcript that the documents in question were ever recollected, and it is beyond credulity to believe that the transcripts were passed out and 14 recollected in complete silence, without any type of mention or comment that that is 15 16 what was being done. Id. at 89-121. In addition, had the transcript been distributed to the jury, it would have been marked as a demonstrative exhibit, though not 17 18 introduced into evidence, and there would be a record of such markings in the trial transcript. Because after the State's request to distribute the detective's formulation 19 20 of what was being stated in the video there was not further conversation about them or reference to them on the record, it is clear that the transcripts were never actually 21 22 given to the jury, thus the defendant's claim is without merit. However, should the 23 Court not feel that the trial transcript alone provides a sufficient record for the Court 24 to rely on in denying the claim, the State requests a remand to the district court for an evidentiary hearing, where in the state will prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the 25 26 transcripts were not given to the jury members.

27

11

//

1	CONCLUSION
2	The defendant's conviction should be affirmed because there was no
3	prosecutorial misconduct during opening statements and the transcript of the MySpace
4	video was not passed out to the jury during the trial and therefore the defendant's
5	second argument is moot.
6	Dated this 25 <sup>th</sup> day of July, 2008.
7	Respectfully submitted,
8	DAVID ROGER
9	Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar # 002781
10	
11	ALH ADDAN
12	BY
13	STEVEN OWENS
14	Chief Deputy District Attorney Nevada Bar #004352
15	Office of the Clark County District Attorney Regional Justice Center 200 Lewis Avenue
16	200 Lewis Avenue Post Office Box 552212
17	Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 (702) 671-2500
18	
19	
20	
21	
22	
23 24	
24 25	
25 26	
20 27	
27	

1	<b>CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE</b>
2	I hereby certify that I have read this appellate brief, and to the best of my
3	knowledge, information, and belief, it is not frivolous or interposed for any improper
4	purpose. I further certify that this brief complies with all applicable Nevada Rules of
5	Appellate Procedure, in particular NRAP 28(e), which requires every assertion in the
6	brief regarding matters in the record to be supported by appropriate references to the
7	record on appeal. I understand that I may be subject to sanctions in the event that the
8	accompanying brief is not in conformity with the requirements of the Nevada Rules of
9	Appellate Procedure.
10	Dated this 25 <sup>th</sup> day of July, 2008.
11	Respectfully submitted,
12	DAVID ROGER
13	Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar # 002781
14	
15	Alborad
16	BY
17	STEVEN OWENS Chief Deputy District Attorney
18	Nevada Bar #004352 Office of the Clark County District Attorney
19 20	Regional Justice Center 200 Lewis Avenue Post Office Box 552212
20 21	Post Office Box 552212 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 (702) 671-2500
21	(702) 671-2500
22 22	
23 24	
24 25	
25 26	
20 27	
27	
20	
	10 I:\APPELLATE\WPDOCS\SECRETARY\BRIEFS\ANSWER\CAMPBELL, MARCUS BRF 51021.DOC

.

1	CERTIFICATE OF MAILING
2	I hereby certify and affirm that I mailed a copy of the foregoing Respondent's
3	Answering Brief to the attorney of record listed below on this 25 <sup>th</sup> day of July, 2008.
4	
5	Marvin L. Longabaugh, Esq. Longabaugh Law Offices 2245C Renaissance Drive
6	2245C Renaissance Drive Las Vegas, Nevada 89119
7	
8	mid
9	Margie English
10	Employee, Clark County District Attorney's Office
11	
12	
13	
14	
15	
16	
17	
18	
19	
20	
21	
22	
23	
24	
25	
26	
27	OWENS/Megan Thomson/english
28	
	I: APPELLATE WPDOCS SECRETARY BRIEFS ANSWER CAMPBELL, MARCUS BRF 51021. DOC
	I\APPELLATE\WPDOCS\SECRETARY\BRIEFS\ANSWER\CAMPBELL, MARCUS BRF 51021.DOC